PENNY BYRD, ET AL.,

PETITIONERS,

v.

RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC., ET AL.,

**RESPONDENTS**.

CASE NO. 72,788

DCA CASE NO. 87-1368



PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

> ROBERT E. WEISBERG DAVID M. LIPMAN STEFAN RUUD

LIPMAN & WEISBERG 5901 S.W. 74 Street Suite 304 Miami, Florida 33143-5186 (305) 662-2600

ROCHELLE Z. CATZ, ESQUIRE 13161 -6363 McGregor Boulevard Ft. Myers, Florida 33907-5936 (813) 481-4834 53919 ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONERS/

PLAINTIFFS

# I.

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal raises the issue of whether the exclusivity bar of the Florida Workers' Compensation Act, Section 440.11(11), Florida Statutes (1985), bars a common law tort action for emotional injuries by female employees against their former employer for acts now commonly referred to as "sexual harassment."

In an opinion filed June 24, 1988, now reported at 527 So.2d 899, the District Court of Appeals for the Second District affirmed the Circuit Court's order which dismissed with prejudice Plaintiffs' claims against their former employer on the grounds that the exclusivity bar of the workers' compensation law precludes the action.

However, the Court of Appeals did certify to this Court "as of great public importance, the contention in this case concerning the exclusivity of workers' compensation remedies." 527 So.2d at 902.

B. FACTS OF THE CASE<sup>1/</sup>

#### 1. <u>THE PARTIES</u>

The Petitioners (herein "Plaintiffs") are six women who were employed as secretarial and support staff personnel at the Ft.

(Footnote continued to next page)

<sup>1/</sup> Plaintiffs' statement of the facts are based directly on Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint (R.Vol. 11, Pgs. 39-50) since the February 2, 1987 Order of Dismissal with Prejudice by the Circuit Court which was affirmed by the Second District Court of Appeals granted the employer Defendants' Motions to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Amended complaint.

Myers office of the Defendant RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC., a retail securities firm during various times between 1983 and 1985. One Plaintiff, MARJORIE HENSLEY, was also employed by Defendant INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION which on April 1, 1985, acquired several Florida retail sales offices from RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS, INC. including the Lee County office where Plaintiff HENSLEY continued to be employed.

Plaintiff PENNY BYRD worked at the RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC. firm's Lee County office for approximately 12 months during the time period between September, 1983 through October, 1984. <u>First Amended Complaint</u>, R.Vol. II, p. 40, (3(a), R.40 (3(a)). MARJORIE HENSLEY, the only Plaintiff employed by the successor corporation INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION, as well as RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC., worked at the office for 12 months from June 1984 to April 15, 1985. <u>Id</u>. at p. 40, (3(b)), (4). JANEY MAINARD SWAHN was employed for 10 months, from December 1983 to September 1984, at the office. <u>Id</u>. at p. 40, (3(c)). DEBBIE K. SMITH worked for six months, from March 1984 to September 1984. <u>Id</u>. at p. 40, (3(d)). MARY ANN VANDLANDEGHEM was employed at RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC. for seven months, from December

## (Footnote 1 continued from previous page)

Accordingly, in reviewing this appeal, this Court must assume that "all facts alleged in appellants' amended complaint to be true as well as all reasonable inferences therefrom." <u>Simon V. Tampa Elec. Co.</u>, 202 §0.2d 209, 211 (Fla. 2 DCA 1967); <u>Ellison v. City of Ft. Lauderdale</u>, 175 §0.2d 198, 200 (Fla. 1965) ("For purposes of the Motion [to Dismiss] the well pleaded material allegations of the Complaint are taken as admitted.").

1983 until June 1984. <u>Id</u>. at p. 40, **(3(e)**. DENISE LARSON worked at the office for five months, from February 1984 to June 1984. <u>Id</u>. at p. 40, (3(f)).

Defendant RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC., is a New York corporation which maintained several retail stock brokerage offices in Florida, including a branch office in Lee County where the Plaintiff was employed. <u>Id</u>. at pp. 40-41, 116.

On April 1, 1985, Defendant INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORA-TION acquired several Florida retail sales offices from RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC., including the Lee County office. Id. at p. 41, ¶7. Howard Jenkins, Branch Supervisor of the RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC.'s Lee County office commencing May 1984, remained Branch Supervisor when the branch was acquired by INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION on April 1, 1985. Id. at p. 40, 115.

#### 2. WORKPLACE SEXUAL HARASSMENT

The Plaintiffs were subjected to sexual harassment by the Branch Managers of the Lee County office from September 1983 through April 1985.

Charles Gill was Branch Manager at RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC.'s Lee County retail office from approximately January 1983 until March 1984. <u>Id</u>. at p. 45, ¶26. Plaintiffs PENNY BYRD, JANEY MAINARD SWAHN, MARY ANN VANDLANDEGHEM, and DENISE LARSON worked at the brokerage firm office while Charles Gill was Branch Manager. <u>Id</u>. The position of Lee County Branch Manager was vacant from March 1984 to May 1984.

-3-

Howard Jenkins was Branch Manager at the Lee County brokerage firm office beginning May 1984. <u>Id</u>. at p. 40, ¶5. From May 1984 through April 1, 1985, Howard Jenkins was employed by RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC. Thereafter, Howard Jenkins was employed as Branch Manager of the Lee County office by INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION, which acquired the office on April 1, 1985. <u>Id</u>. at p. 41, ¶7. All Plaintiffs were employed at the brokerage firm office and worked under Howard Jenkins' supervision, while he was Branch Manager. <u>Id</u>.

Under both Branch Managers, the women were chased around the office, pinched, fondled, grabbed and squeezed by first Charles Gill and later Howard Jenkins. Id. at p. 42, (12(a-f)); p. 45, (26(a-d)). Charles Gill and Howard Jenkins intentionally sexually harassed the women, and the harassment was uninvited, unwanted, and unauthorized. Id. at p. 41, (12); p. 45, (27). In addition to the physical sexual harassment, Charles Gill and Howard Jenkins made verbal sexual advances consisting of threats to force the women to have sexual relations, and degrading sexually-oriented comments about their bodies. — at p. 43, 1115; p. 45, (26).

Specifically, while Mr. Gill was Branch Manager, Plaintiff BYRD was subjected to continuous flirtations and sexually overt remarks from him. <u>Id.</u>, #26a. While Mr. Jenkins was Branch Manager, he continually touched, kissed, and grabbed Plaintiff BYRD; and rubbed her breasts, buttocks, back, and shoulders. Id., **#12a**.

-4-

Plaintiff SWAHN was subjected to continuous attempts by Mr. Gill to kiss her. Gill also continually made comments of a sexual nature about her appearance and repeatedly touched her body. Id., 1126. Mr. Jenkins similarly touched and hugged Plaintiff SWAHN's back and shoulders, held her hands, and hugged her forcibly. Id., 112c.

Plaintiff VANDLANDEGHEM was continually touched by Mr. Gill and he also rubbed her legs and kissed her. <u>Id.</u>, *¶26c*, Mr. Jenkins continually put his hands on her shoulders and waist and continually brushed up against and bumped her. Id., *¶12e*,

Plaintiff LARSON was persistently and continually asked by Mr. Gill in a sexually suggestive manner to accompany him to parties or for drinks. Id., #26d. Mr. Jenkins continually touched Plaintiff LARSON including her chest and shoulders, and would rub her from behind and put his arms around her. Id., #12f.

Plaintiffs HENSLEY and SMITH were not employed by either Defendant while Mr. Gill was Branch Manager. While Mr. Jenkins was Branch Manager, Plaintiff HENSLEY was continually touched and rubbed by him on her shoulders, back, and buttocks. He also repeatedly attempted to kiss her. <u>Id</u>, <u>112b</u>.

Plaintiff SMITH was continually touched by Mr. Jenkins which included his rubbing her arm, shoulders, and neck; and stroking her and her clothing (e.g., turning **down** collars and touching buttons on blouses), <u>Id.</u>, ¶12a.

-5-

#### 3. DEFENDANTS HAD KNOWLEDGE OF THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT BUT FAILED TO TAKE ANY CORRECTIVE ACTION

Defendant RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS was aware of the complaints of sexual harassment occurring at the Ft. Myers branch office during 1984.

On or about June, 1984, Ken Fuller, President of RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC. and Bill Lewis, Vice President of RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC., were advised that acts of sexual harassment were occurring at the Lee County branch office. <u>Id</u>. at p. 46, **%30**. Additionally, numerous conversations with RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC.'s District Operations Manager in Palm Beach, Fred Cirillo, by Lisa Sides, and DEBBIE K. SMITH between May 1984 and September 1984 also put RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC. offices on notice of sexual harassment at its Lee County office. Id. at p. 46, **%11130-31**.

Notwithstanding the complaints, Defendant RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS took no corrective action nor instituted any investigation regarding the complaints of workplace sexual harassment against its employees Messrs. Jenkins and Gill. <u>Id</u>., **%32**.

 $(\alpha)$ 

Following its acquisition of the Lee County office of Defendant RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS, Defendant INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION continued to employ Howard Jenkins **as** the manager of that office. Ken Fuller, who, as president of RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS, had received the complaints of sexual harassment at the Lee County office where Plaintiffs were employed, became President of INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION

-6-

after its purchase of retail sales offices in Florida. <u>Id</u>., 1142. Like RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS, Defendant INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION took no action nor conducted any investigations regarding complaints of the sexual harassment by Mr. Jenkins.

# C. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

## 1. THE FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint consists of a five count complaint. Counts 111, IV, and V are directed against Plaintiffs' former employers Defendants RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES and INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION, and are the only claims germane to this appeal.<sup>2/</sup>

In Counts III and IV of the First Amended Complaint, all Plaintiffs sue Defendant RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES, INC. for damages based on intentional infliction of emotional distress (Count 111) (Id. at pp. 43-44), and based on that Defendant's negligent hiring and retention of employees, namely branch managers, Howard Jenkins and Charles Gill. Plaintiffs allege that this Defendant was made aware these employees were committing acts of sexual harassment against the Plaintiffs but failed to take any corrective action (Count IV) (Id. at pp. 44-47).

<sup>2/</sup> In Count I, the Plaintiffs sue Howard Jenkins individually based on a common-law battery tort claim (R.Vol. II, pp. 41-42). In Count II, the Plaintiffs sue Howard Jenkins individually based on a common-law tort assault claim (Id. at p. 43). The claims against Defendant Howard Jenkins were not dismissed with prejudice by the Circuit Court in its December 8, 1986 Order and consequently Mr. Jenkins was not a party to the appeal before the District Court of Appeals, or to this Court.

Counts V and VII are brought by Plaintiff MARJORIE HENSLEY against Defendant INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION based on that Defendants' negligent hiring and retention of branch manager Jenkins after it acquired the Lee County office of Defendant RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS SECURITIES INC. in August, 1985; and Defendant INTERSTATE's intentional infliction of emotional distress (Id. at pp. 47-50).

2. PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE CIRCUIT COURT

(a) DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS TO DISMISS
Defendants RICHARDSON-GREENSHIELDS and INTERSTATE
SECURITIES CORPORATION filed Motions to Dismiss Plaintiffs'
First Amended Complaint.<sup>3/</sup> Both Defendants argued that "the complaint fails to state a cause of action and the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction because the claims alleged are subject to the the exclusive remedies of the Florida Workers'
Compensation Statute" (R.Vol. 11, pp. 53, 62).

Additionally, both corporate Defendants argued that the Plaintiffs had not satisfactorily stated **a** cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress and for the negligent hiring and retention of its employees. (R.Vol. 11, pp. 92-93).

## b. DISPOSITION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT

On December 8, 1986, the Circuit Court (Nelson,  $J_{\cdot}$ ) heard oral argument on the Motions to Dismiss.

<sup>3/</sup> Defendant Howard Jenkins also filed a Motion to Dismiss. As previously stated, the Circuit Court's disposition of Defendant Jenkins' Motion is not before this Court.

At the December 8, 1986, hearing, the Honorable William J. Nelson, Circuit Judge indicated his intention to grant the Motions to Dismiss by the corporate Defendant employers with prejudice with respect to all Counts directed to each corporate Defendant on the basis that the Workers Compensation Statute is the exclusive remedy. (See R.Vol. 11, pp. 81-84) (Excerpt of Proceedings of December 8, 1986).

At the hearing, Plaintiffs moved <u>ore tenus</u> to amend their complaint to conform with the pleading standards for an intentional tort articulated by this Court only 12 days earlier in <u>Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co.</u>, **498** §0.2d **882** (Fla. **1986**). (R.Vol. 11, p. **82**). In response to Plaintiffs' request to amend the pleading, the Circuit Judge indicated that the request would be denied because no amendment would overcome the exclusivity bar of the Workers' Compensation Act. <u>Id</u>. On February 2, **1987**, the Circuit Judge entered the written Order granting the Defendant employers' Motions to Dismiss with Prejudice. (R.Vol. 11, pp. **96-97**).

#### 3. DISPOSITION BY THE SECOND

In an opinion filed June 24, 1988 now reported at 527 So.2d 899, the Second District Court of Appeals affirmed the Circuit Court's "ruling that the exclusivity of workers' compensation remedies bars this suit against the employers." 527 So.2d at 900.

The Court of Appeals concluded that although based on a pleading deficiency, no cause of action was stated against the

-9-

employers, "the amended complaint could be further amended to cure the deficiency [however] such further amendment would be futile because the workers' compensation laws provide the exclusive remedy in this case." Id. The Court reasoned that the "workers' compensation laws cover emotional injuries resulting from not insubstantial physical contacts" and that the bar "is not precluded by an intentional tort committed by an employee, not the alter ego of the employee--notwithstanding prior notice of such conduct by the employer." Id.

The Court of Appeals also stated that the type of conduct by an employer which would render the exclusivity of workers' compensation remedies inapplicable as described by this Court in <u>Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Lawton v. Alpine Engineered Products, Inc.</u>, 498 §0.2d 879 (Fla. 1986), requires a showing that the employer "deliberate[1y] intend[ed] to injure or engage in conduct which is substantially certain to result in injury or death" <u>citing Fisher</u>, 498 §0.2d at 883. <u>Id</u>. at 901-902.

The Appeals Court additionally rejected the argument that the exclusivity bar should not apply because the "remedies under the workers' compensation laws for injuries in this type of situation are **insufficient**." 527 \$0.2d at 902. The Court stated that if the remedies provided by the Act are insufficient, this should be addressed by the Legislature. <u>Id</u>.

Finally, the Appeals Court certified to this Court "as of great public importance, the contention in this case concerning the exclusivity of workers' compensation remedies." Id. at 902.

-10-

#### IV, SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### A. <u>LEGISLATIVE ORIGINS</u>

A review of the origins of the workers! compensation system as it developed in Florida and throughout the United States indicates that it was not designed or intended to cover claims for "non-physical in nature emotional injuries" or to cover emotional injuries caused by workplace sexual harassment.

Workers! compensation was designed to cover physical injuries from on-the-job accidents. Sexual harassment will neither involve a physical injury nor is it a typical workplace accident. Common law tort claims caused by workplace sexual harassment like other causes of action by an employee against an employer such as defamation, false imprisonment, libel, malicious prosecution, invasion of the right of privacy, fraud, and deceit, fall outside the workers! compensation system,

#### B. <u>VIEW BY FIVE FLORIDA JUDGES</u>

The inapplicability of the Florida Workers! Compensation exclusivity bar to common law tort claims for workplace sexual harassment has support in the Florida appellate judiciary. Five of the eleven judges of the Florida First District Court of Appeals in two <u>en banc</u> decisions have explicitly concluded that the workers' compensation exclusivity bar does not apply because "acts now commonly referred to as 'sexual harassment! were never intended to be governed **by**" the Florida workers! compensation law. <u>Schwartz v. Zippy Mart. Inc.</u>, 470 So.2d 720, 731 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (Smith, J., dissenting), and <u>Brown v. Winn-Dixie</u> Montgomery. Inc., 469 So.2d 155, 163 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (Smith, J., dissenting) (en banc).

-11-

The same result reached by five judges was reached by Judge Ervin in a second dissenting opinion in these cases. However, unlike the five judges who viewed the workers' compensation bar as inapplicable because sexual harassment is not the "type of wrong" covered by the act, Judge Ervin focused on the "type of injury" and reasoned that "[i]f the essence of the tort is nonphysical, then the tort action should not be barred." 470 So.2d at 706.

#### C. <u>VIEW BY COURTS IN OTHER STATES</u>

Plaintiffs' position that workplace sexual harassment falls outside the workers' compensation scheme is neither new nor novel. Numerous state appellate courts throughout the United States including courts in Georgia, North Carolina, Arizona, and Missouri, have concluded that common law tort claims for emotional injuries for workplace sexual harassment are not barred by that state's workers' compensation laws. Numerous other state appellate courts which have not yet addressed the issue in a workplace sexual harassment context have similarly concluded that claims for emotional--as distinct from physical injuries incurred in the workplace--are not barred by that state's workers' compensation laws. Although the workers' compensation statutory scheme may vary from state to state, the general policy considerations and analyses relied upon by these courts are persuasive and applicable to this case.

## D. FISHER AND LAWTON ARE NOT DISPOSITIVE

Decisions by this Court in <u>Fisher v. Shenandoah</u> and <u>Lawton</u> <u>v. Alpine Engineered Products. Inc.</u>, **498** \$0.2d **879** (Fla. **1986**)

-12-

which articulate the standards which **must** be satisfied in establishing whether an employer's actions amount to an int ntional tort, are not dispositive here. Unlike the injured employees in both <u>Fisher</u> and <u>Alpine</u> who suffered physical injury or death as a result of their work-related activities, Plaintiffs here suffered emotional not physical injuries from workplace sexual harassment unrelated to the normal work activity.

#### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. THE HISTORY, INTENT AND POLICY BEHIND WORKERS' COMPENSATION ACTS SUPPORT THE VIEW THAT SEXUAL HARASSMENT CLAIMS ARE OUTSIDE THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION SYSTEM

A review of the origins of the workers' compensation system as it developed in Florida and throughout the United States indicates that it was not designed to cover claims for emotional injuries for workplace sexual harassment.

Beginning with New York in 1910, the states began to enact workers' compensation laws. <u>See</u> Larson "The Nature and Origins of Workmens' Compensation" 37 Cornell L. Rev. 206, 232-233 (1952). By 1920, the process of legislative reform had gone **so** quickly that all but eight states had enacted workers' compensation acts. <u>Id</u>. at 233. Florida was one of the last states to adopt the workers' compensation system for industrial injuries and death, in the 1935 "Florida Workmens' Compensation Act."

-13-



Laws of Florida 1935, Chapter 17481 now codified at Chapter 440 Florida Statutes.<sup>4/</sup>

The fundamental purpose of the workers' compensation acts was to provide the victims of industrial accidents with some compensation for loss of wage-earning capacity. <u>See</u>, <u>e.e.</u>, <u>City of Hialeah v. Warner</u>, 128 So.2d **611** (Fla. **1961**).<sup>5/</sup>

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