IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,788 DCA CASE NO. 87-1368

PENNY BYRD, MARJORIE K. HENSLEY, JANEY MAINARD SWAHN, DEBBIE K. SMITH, MARY ANN VANLANDEGHEM, AND DENISE LARSON all individuals,

PETITIONERS,

v.

RICHARDSON GREENSHIELD SECURITIES, INC., a New York corporation, authorized to do business in the State of Florida, and INTERSTATE SECURITIES CORPORATION, a North Carolina corporation, authorized to do business in the State of Florida,

RESPONDENTS.

b

b

•

On Certified Question From the District Court of Appeal, Second District, State of Florida

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Terence G. Connor

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondents will first argue that the District Court of Appeal lacked jurisdiction over this case because of the untimely filing of a notice of appeal by the Petitioner, more than 30 days after the trial court issued its Order dismissing the First Amended Complaint. Therefore, Respondents will argue that this Court has no jurisdiction over the certified question.

Second, Respondents will argue that the question certified to this Court is one more properly addressed to the Legislature. The Petitioners seek a specific exclusion from the employer immunity provisions of the Workers' Compensation Act that is not consistent with long standing judicial interpretation of that statute, and this Court should decline to exercise legislative authority as requested.

Third, Respondents will argue that, to the extent that the question certified is whether there is an intentional tort exception to the immunity provisions of the Workers' Compensation Act, this record does not present the Court with sufficient allegations to describe an intentional tort by the Respondents. The Court should therefore decline to answer the certified question.

Finally, Respondents will reply to the arguments made by the Petitioners in their Brief by arguing that all injuries occurring in the course and scope of employment are encompassed by the Workers' Compensation Act, that the case law cited by the Petitioners does not support the positions they have taken in

Þ

-7-

this Court, and that the mere fact that there is a sexual component to the alleged wrong does not remove the claim from the Workers' Compensation Act.

.

.

•

•

2

.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION BECAUSE PETITIONERS FAILED TO FILE A TIMELY NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE DISTRICT COURT.

Assuming this Court does accept the question certified $\stackrel{6}{-}$, it may then review the entire case, and is not limited to the certified question alone. In another case involving a certified question, this Court stated:

We deem it our prerogative to consider any error in the record once we have it properly before us for our review.

Lawrence v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 346 So.2d 1012, 1014 n.2 (Fla. 1977). <u>See Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 32, 34 (Fla. 1985) (Court may review "any issue" properly preserved and presented): Zirin v. Charles Pfizer, <u>supra</u>, 128 So.2d at 596.

)

Thus, although this Court may initially decide to accept jurisdiction from the court below by granting the petition, it should nevertheless inquire, as a preliminary matter, whether the district court of appeal had jurisdiction to render the decision that is the subject of the petition.

Respondents contend that the district court of appeal did not have jurisdiction over this case because Petitioners did

5/ This Court is not required to exercise jurisdiction over this case, despite the fact that the district court of appeal has directed a certified question to this Court, and may exercise its discretion to determine whether an opinion is justified or required. <u>Zirin v. Charles</u> Pfizer & Co., 128 So.2d 594, 596-97 (Fla. 1961).

-9-

not timely file a notice of appeal. Respondents both moved in the district court of appeal for dismissal on that ground, and argued the issue to the district court in its brief on the merits. The district court denied Respondents' motion without written opinion, and did not address this issue in its written opinion on the merits. This Court should address this issue, as it was preserved in the record and is dispositive.

The circuit court dismissed Petitioners' first amended complaint on February 1, 1987, and Petitioners filed notice of appeal on May 1, 1987, almost ninety (90) days later. In the intervening period they filed a motion with the circuit court, asking it to rewrite its order to "assist" appellate review. The motion explicitly eschewed any intention of "seeking to overturn the <u>substance</u> of the dismissal, simply the form, in order to facilitate appellate review." (R. 98-101) On these facts, notice of appeal was not timely filed.

There are two critical legal principles at work. The first is that a trial court's order dismissing an action will be sustained so long as there is any legal basis for doing so. See <u>Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee</u>, **377** So.2d 1150 (Fla. **1979);** <u>Swanson v. Gulf West International Corp.</u>, **429** So.2d 817 (Fla. 2d DCA **1983).** Therefore, a trial court is under no obligation to specify in an order which among alternative theories it has chosen as the basis for its order of dismissal.

The second rule is that a motion for rehearing on an order of dismissal in the circuit court does not toll the strict

-10-

requirement that a notice of appeal be filed within 30 days unless the motion seeks an alteration of the trial court's order on an issue that has been left in "genuine ambiguity," or it seeks an amendment on a matter of "substance." <u>St. Moritz Hotel</u> <u>v. Daughty</u>, 249 So.2d 27, 28 (Fla. 1971). The motion for rehearing must address a particular reason why the trial court's initial disposition was "erroneous." <u>Elmore v. Palmer First</u> <u>National Bank of Sarasota</u>, 221 So.2d 164, 166 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969).

The motion which, Petitioners claimed below, tolled the 30-day appeal period, explicitly disavowed any effort to have the circuit court alter the "substance" of its February 1, 1987 order, and sought only to have the judge identify the basis for his ruling. Such an amendment is not a matter of "substance", and would not "correct an error" in the circuit court's Even if the circuit court had disposition of the case. specified, as appellants requested, that its ruling was based only on the employer-immunity argument, the district court could have sustained the ruling on alternative grounds that were not <u>See</u> Applegate, <u>supra</u>. Therefore, whether or not the stated. circuit court stated the rationale for its decision would not alter its disposition on a matter of substance or correct any perceived error. The circuit court's order was clear, simple and unambiguous. (R. 96-7) Petitioners requested that the circuit court issue an order identical in substance, but in language that they believed would "facilitate" appellate review. Such a motion is not of a kind that will stop the appeals clock.

-11-

As Petitioners did not file a notice of appeal until three months after the circuit court issued the order on which Petitioners seek review, and because Petitioners' motion did not toll the appeal period, notice was not timely filed. As **a** result, the district court did not have jurisdiction over this case. Since this Court's jurisdiction is derivative of the jurisdiction of the district court of appeal, the petition here should be dismissed.

)

)

POINT II

EXCLUSION BENEFITS UNDER ANY OF THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION ACT FOR INJURIES ARISING OUT OF SEXUAL ASSAULTS BY CO WORKERS IN THE WORKPLACE MUST BE ADOPTED LEGISLATIVE BY \mathbf{THE} BRANCH OF THE GOVERNMENT.

Particularly on the record brought to this Court, the certified question is an invitation to this Court to enact amendments to a long existing Florida statutory immunity for employers who are covered by workers' compensation insurance. The Constitution of the State of Florida assigns that function exclusively to the legislative branch, and the Court should reject this invitation to exercise legislative power. Art. 11, **\$3,** Fla. Const. <u>See Rotwein v. Gersten</u>, **160** Fla. **736, 36** So.2d 419, 421 (1948).

Despite the frequent allusions in Petitioner's Brief to "sexual harassment" as the cause of action they seek to pursue in the circuit court, the claims asserted sound in common law assault, battery and outrage. There is no common law remedy for "sexual harassment". Like workers' compensation benefits, remedies for "sexual harassment" as a cause of action are creatures of legislation. Both the federal and state legislatures have adopted statutory schemes prohibiting discrimination in employment on the basis of gender, and those statutes have been interpreted by the courts to prohibit making sexual favors a condition of employment. 42 U.S.C. §2000e-4 (1987); § 760.10, Fla. Stat. (1987). See Meritor Savings Bank v. Vinson, 477 U.S.

-13-

57, 106 S.Ct. 2399; 91 L.Ed. 2d 49 (1986). Far from leaving victims of sex discrimination without remedy, those statutes have created elaborate administrative and investigative procedures and agencies to deal with this problem found by the legislatures to exist in the workplace. The statutes have enabled government agencies and private plaintiffs to sue for injunctions, backpay and other affirmative equitable relief as may be appropriate to the circumstances of each case. S760.10, Fla. Stat. (1987); 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5 (1988 West Supp).

However, where Plaintiffs seek to invoke common law causes of action, such as assault, battery and intentional infliction of emotional distress, and where the underlying facts leading to such causes of action arise out of and in the course of employment, the comprehensive no-fault scheme of the Workers' Compensation Act is the employee's exclusive remedy against his § 440.11 Fla. Stat. (1987). The Florida or her employer. appellate courts which have considered requests to legislate cases of "sexual harassment" out of the workers' compensation scheme have consistently referred the parties to the legislative branch. See Byrd v. Richardson Greenshields, Inc., 527 So. 2d 899, 902 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); <u>Schwartz v. Zippy Mart, Inc.</u>, 470 So.2d 720, 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (en banc); Brown v. Winn-Dixie Montgomery, Inc., 469 So,2d 155 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (en banc).

Action by the latest session of the Florida Legislature demonstrates that this is appropriate constitutional deference. The Legislature was specifically aware of the decision of this

-14-

Court on a workers' compensation issue and moved promptly to enact a curative amendment. This Court had interpreted the Act to allow common law remedies against managerial employees in Streeter v. Sullivan, 509 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1987). Streeter held that the corporate officers of a bank could be liable to a teller who was robbed, allegedly because of the failure of the officer to arrange for adequate security. The Legislature acted swiftly, during the 1988 session, to express its intent more explicitly and to close the opening it believed Streeter had caused for litigation against persons who act in excessive certain managerial capacities. See House Commerce Committee Final Staff Analysis And Economic Impact Statement On CS/HB 1288 (May 31, 1988). <u>7</u>/

The en banc decisions of the First District in <u>Winn-Dixie</u> and <u>Zippy Mart</u>, have been matters of public record since 1985. <u>See Studstill v. Borg Warren Leasing</u>, 806 F.2d 1005 (11th Cir. 1986). No other appellate court in the state has ruled to the contrary, and the Legislature has made no effort to amend the statute to alter the <u>Zippy Mart</u> and <u>Winn-Dixie</u> interpretations of the Act. Such a specific exception to the provisions of the Act as Petitioners seek here require legislative attention and is not appropriate for judicial action. This Court should assume that the Legislature is aware of the judicial interpretations of the

7/

A copy of this report and the amendment enacted are attached as Appendix "C" to this brief.

Act, particular on timely issues like sexual harassment, and that it has perceived no compelling reason to "cure" them.

Petitioners' policy arguments concerning the alleged inadequacy of the remedies under the Act do not consider the fact that there are strong policy reasons for maintaining the integrity of the exclusive remedy aspect of the Act. In rejecting similar arguments that it should judicially create an exception for this type of claim from the exclusivity of the Act, the court in <u>Brown v. Winn-Dixie</u> explained that:

> Such immunity is the heart and soul of this legislation which has, over the years been of highly significant social and economic benefit to the working man, the employer and the State.

Id. So,2d at 157. Petitioners' invitation to create an exception for certain types of assaults from the "heart and soul" of the statute is an invitation to legislate in violation of the constitutional separation powers in Florida.

Accordingly, this Court should decline the invitation implicit in the certified question to effect an amendment to the Florida Workers' Compensation Act and should leave that decision to the legislative branch consistent with the separation of government powers required by the Florida Constitution.

2

-16-

POINT III

THE RECORD IN THIS CASE DOES NOT FURNISH THE COURT WITH A BASIS FOR RESPONDING TO THE CERTIFIED QUESTION AS TO INTENTIONAL TORTS.

The Second District correctly observed that, insofar as two of the three counts upon which Petitioners rely here are in negligence, there is no question that they are covered by the Workers' Compensation Statute and precluded by employer immunity, <u>Byrd v. Richardson Greenshields</u>, <u>supra</u>, 527 So.2d at **900**, n.1. In that context, it is clear that the question certified to this Court is whether a claim that the employer has engaged in intentionally tortious misconduct against an employee invokes an exception to the exclusive remedy provisions of the Act that would permit an action at common law. The record furnishes the Court with no opportunity to evaluate that question. Only two years ago, this Court declined the invitation to respond to that certified question from the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Company</u>, **498** So.2d 882 (Fla. **1986**).

In <u>Fisher</u>, this Court declined to answer the certified question whether intentional misconduct of the employer removed the employer's immunity under the Act. The Court so ruled that the complaint in that case did not allege an intentional tort against a corporate employer where it alleged only that the employer knew "in all probability" that its actions would cause injury or death. **498** So.2d at **883.** <u>Fisher</u> held that

-17-

(i)n order for an employer's actions to amount to an intentional tort, the employer must either exhibit a <u>deliberate</u> <u>intent to injure</u> or engage in conduct which is <u>substantially certain to result</u> in injury or death.

Id. (Emphasis added). This requires that the risk injury be substantial, or a "virtual certainty,'' and not merely a strong probability. Id. at 883-84.

In following a number of leading jurisdictions on workers' compensation law on this issue, this Court correctly noted that

а

(s)uch a strict reading is necessary because nearly every accident, injury, and sickness occurring at the workplace results from someone intentionally engaging in some triggering action.

Id. at 884. Accord, Millison v. E.I. duPont de Nemours & Co., 101 N.J. 161, 501 A.2d 505 (1985), appeal after remand, 226 N.J. Super. 572, 545, A.2d 213 (1988); Johns-Mansville Products Co. v. Superior Court, 27 Cal. 3d 465, 165 Cal. Rptr. 858 (1980). In Fisher, this Court unequivocally stated that the "failure to provide a safe workplace . . . does not constitute an intentional tort." Id. at 883. The Court reaffirmed that position in Lawton v. Alpine Engineered Products. Inc., 498 So.2d 879, 880 (Fla. 1986), where it stated that an employer's "willful and wanton disregard for the safety of its employees'' was not sufficient to support a finding that the employer committed an intentional tort.

Petitioners have failed to state a cause of action in intentional tort against either of the Respondents under the

-18-

standard adopted in Fisher and Lawton or even to describe one in their "worst case" narrative before this Court. In Count III of the First Amended Complaint, where Richardson-Greenshields Securities is itself accused of intentional infliction of emotional distress, Petitioners allege only that the Respondents "fail[ed] to investigate" their complaints of Howard Jenkins' alleged misconduct and thereby "gave tacit approval to said actions," which "foreseeably contributed" to their injuries. (R. Vol. 11, p. 44, ¶ 21; p. 49, ¶ 53). The court of appeal correctly found that this alleged "tacit approval" is far short of the specific intent to injure required under Fisher. As the California Supreme Court has also recently held, an employee cannot circumvent the workers' compensation scheme by merely characterizing such conduct as "intentional," or "unfair" or "outrageous." Cole v. Fair Oaks Fire Protection District, 43 Cal. 3d 148, 233 Cal. Rptr. 308, 729 P.2d 743, 749-750 (1987) (allegations of workplace harassment not sufficient to remove case from exclusive remedy provisions of the California workers' compensation statute).

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